IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S223676

THE PEOPLE, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CLIFFORD PAUL CHANEY, Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal Third Disctrict No. C073949

Superior Court of California Amador Superior Court 05CR08104

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 1 2 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Michael Satris, Esq. (SBN # 67413) Post Office Box 337 Bolinas, CA 94924-0337 (415) 868-9209 satrislaw.eservice@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant and Appellant Clifford Paul Chaney

By Appointment of the Supreme Court under the CCAP Independent Case System

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S223676

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does the definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in Proposition 47 (Pen. Code, § 1170.18) apply retroactively to the recall and resentencing proceedings under the Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012 (Pen. Code, § 1170.126)¹?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

"[W]hat is popularly, and singularly, known as the 'Three Strikes' law [is] a pair of statutes ..., one enacted from a bill introduced in the Legislature (Stats. 1994, ch. 12, § 1, pp. 71–75, adding Pen. Code, § 667, subds. (b)-(i)²), the other enacted from an initiative measure presented to the people (Prop. 184, § 1, as approved by voters, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 8, 1994), adding Pen. Code, § 1170.12)." (In re Cervera (2001) 24 Cal.4th 1073, 1074–1075.) The Three Strikes law reflected "the will of Californians that the goals of retribution, deterrence, and incapacitation be given precedence in determining the appropriate punishment for crimes." (People v. Cooper (1996) 43 Cal.App.4th 815, 823–824.) It revolutionized sentencing law by dramatically increasing the length of imprisonment for repeat offenders on the basis of a perception that there was an "epidemic of violent crime in our society." (People v. Davis (1997) 15 Cal.4th 1096, 1115 (dis. opn. of Kennard, J.).) "The Three Strikes law reflect[ed] the public's

All further statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise indicated.

Any undesignated statutory references in this brief are to the Penal Code.

long-simmering frustration with perceived laxity in a criminal justice system that allowed repeatedly convicted felons to be released after serving modest sentences with time off for good behavior." (*People* v. *Garcia* (1999) 20 Cal.4th 490, 504 (dis. opn. of Brown, J.).)

Indeed, the Three Strikes law was passed "when popular sentiment against crime was at fever pitch" and the politics of mass imprisonment was at the apex of the "tough on crime" approach to public safety. (Vitiello, California's Three Strikes and We're Out: Was Judicial Activism California's Best Hope? [hereafter California's Three Strikes and We're Out] (2004) 37 U.C. Davis L.Rev. 1025, 1031.) In short, "a primary purpose of the Three Strikes law was 'to ensure longer prison sentences' (§ 667, subd. (b)), and we think the law has achieved this purpose" (People v. Garcia, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p. 501.)

While this Court did "not question the legitimacy of the three strikes law or the public safety animus it undeniably reflects" (People v. Superior Court (Alvarez) (1997) 14 Cal.4th 968, 979), the people began to reform that punitive approach less than a decade after passage of that law, with the first Proposition 36. That proposition, approved by the voters at the November 7, 2000, general election and entitled the "Substance Abuse and Crime Prevention Act of 2000," mandated probation and drug treatment for qualified persons convicted of a nonviolent drug possession offense, with incarceration prohibited. (See § 1210.1.) "Prop. 36 emphasizes treatment, not punishment." (People v. Beaty (2010) 181 Cal.App.4th 644, 653.)

Further reforms were enacted reflecting the developing "smart on crime" approach, as the people realized that their "tough on crime" approach had created a Frankenstein of indiscriminate imprisonment, accompanied by spiraling financial and human costs that were actually counter-productive to public safety. Most prominently, another Proposition 36, the Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012, placed on the ballot for the November election that year a measure that took aim at the most draconian aspect of the Three Strikes law -- the provision that provided for a sentence of imprisonment for 25 years to life for any felony committed by an offender with two or more prior "strikes." (Former §§ 667, subd. (c), 1170.12, subd. (a).) That provision had made this "recidivist statute ... among the most extreme in the nation" (*People v.* Martinez (1999) 71 Cal.App.4th 1502, 1516), and earned it the dubious distinction of being "the toughest law in America." (Vitiello, supra, California's Three Strikes and We're Out, 37 U.C. Davis L.Rev. at p. 1026); see also id. at p. 1070 ["California's Three Strikes law is the toughest in the nation."]; Ramirez v. Castro (9th Cir. 2004) 365 F.3d 755, 772) [the State concedes "the statute employed against Ramirez is the most stringent in the nation"]; Mills & Romano, The Passage and Implementation of the Three Strikes Reform Act (Proposition 36) (April 2013) 25.4 Fed.Sent.R.) 265, http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/ fsr.2013.25.4.265 (as of 4/24/2015) ["it was the harshest noncapital law in the count[r]y"].)

As this Court observed about that extreme provision a few months before the 2012 election:

> One aspect of the law that has proven controversial is that the lengthy punishment prescribed by the law may be imposed not only when such a defendant

is convicted of another serious or violent felony but also when he or she is convicted of any offense that is categorized under California law as a felony. This is so even when the current, so-called triggering, offense is nonviolent and may be widely perceived as relatively minor. [Citation.]

(In re Coley (2012) 55 Cal.4th 524, 568-529.)

It was under this aspect of the law that the Amador County Superior Court committed Chaney to prison on a term of 25 years to life on December 12, 2005, following his conviction for felony drunk driving (former Veh. Code, § 23152, subd. (b)). (2 CT 374, 378.) His third-strike status arose from his admissions of six prior convictions of serious or violent felonies arising out of two separate incidents of robbery (§ 211) that had occurred two weeks apart and more than two decades earlier (1983). (2 CT 374, 378, 412.)

On November 6, 2012, the voters of California approved Proposition 36, the Three Strikes Reform Act. The Reform Act restricts a third-strike sentence to those offenders with two past strikes whose current offense is a serious or violent felony or involved possession of a deadly weapon or intent to inflict great bodily injury, or whose past offenses include a so-called "super

strike."³ (§§ 667, subd. (e)(2)(C), 1170.12, subd. (c)(2)(C).) Except in those cases, the convicted felon must be sentenced as a second-strike offender. (§ 1170.12, subd. (c)(2)(C).)

The Act's Findings and Declarations reflect the electorate's judgment that second-strike doubling of a sentence provides sufficient punishment for these offenders and adequately provides for public safety. In addition to tailoring the punishment more closely to the seriousness of the current crime, the initiative recognizes that maintenance of life terms for such offenders places undue burdens both on California's over-capacity prison system⁴ and the overall state budget that are counterproductive to public safety:

The People enact the Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012 to restore the original intent of California's Three Strikes

³ Section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv) was enacted by the Reform Act and lists a handful of particularly violent or serious felonies that came to be known as "super strikes," the prior commission of which disqualified an offender from the reach of the Reform Act.

California's prisons at the time were so overcrowded that they imposed cruel and unusual punishment upon their population, so that the Eighth Amendment required California to reduce its prison population. (See Brown v. Plata (2011) 563 U.S. [131 S.Ct. 1910]; see also In re Stoneroad (2013) 215 Cal.App.4th 596, 632–633 ["Severe overcrowding in California's prison system and its impact on the provision to inmates of adequate medical and mental health care has recently been found by the United States Supreme Court to violate the Eighth Amendment prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment" (citing Plata)].)

law—imposing life sentences for dangerous criminals like rapists, murderers, and child molesters.

This act will:

- (1) Require that murderers, rapists, and child molesters serve their full sentences they will receive life sentences, even if they are convicted of a new minor third strike crime.
- (2) Restore the Three Strikes law to the public's original understanding by requiring life sentences only when a defendant's current conviction is for a violent or serious crime.
- (3) Maintain that repeat offenders convicted of non-violent, non-serious crimes like shoplifting and simple drug possession will receive twice the normal sentence instead of life.
- (4) Save hundreds of millions of taxpayer dollars every year for at least ten years. The state will no longer pay for housing or long-term health care for elderly, lowrisk, non-violent inmates serving life sentences for minor crimes.
- (5) Prevent the early release of dangerous criminals who are currently being released early because jails and prisons are overcrowded with low-risk, non-violent inmates serving life sentences for petty crimes.

(The Three Strikes Reform Act (Prop. 36), enacted Nov. 6, 2012, § 1.) As explained in a ballot argument in favor of Proposition 36 titled "Tough and Smart on Crime": "... Prop. 36 will keep dangerous criminals off the streets.... Criminal justice experts and law enforcement leaders carefully crafted Prop. 36 so that truly dangerous criminals will receive no benefits whatsoever from the reform." (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 6, 2012), argument in favor of Prop. 36, p. 52.)

The Act also contains a retroactivity provision that gives prisoners who currently are serving third-strike sentences, but who would have qualified for second-strike sentences under the Act, the opportunity to obtain such a sentence. (§ 1170.126, subd. (a).) The section provides that such inmates may petition the superior court for resentencing. (§ 1170.126, subd. (b).) The court then must make an eligibility determination that finds that the third-striker in fact would be sentenced as a second-striker under the Act if he now committed his offense. (§ 1170.126, subd. (f).) If so, "the petitioner shall be resentenced" as a second-striker "unless the court, in its discretion, determines that resentencing the petitioner would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety." (*Ibid.*)

Section 1170.126, subdivision (g) provides the following factors to guide the court's discretion in determining whether the petitioner may properly be exempted from the resentencing provision due to dangerousness:

(1) The petitioner's criminal conviction history, including the type of crimes committed, the extent of injury to victims, the length of prior prison commitments, and the remoteness of the crimes;

- (2) The petitioner's disciplinary record and record of rehabilitation while incarcerated; and
- (3) Any other evidence the court, within its discretion, determines to be relevant in deciding whether a new sentence would result in an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety.

Proposition 36 does not, however, otherwise guide or constrain the court's discretion to determine that the petitioner would constitute an "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" if resentenced.

Without any objective standard or definition to determine whether a qualified third-striker posed an "unreasonable risk to public safety," the trial courts imposed widely varying measures to determine such according to each judge's subjective determination, and the reviewing courts upheld such elastic application of the phrase against claims that it was void for vagueness. (See, e.g., *People v. Garcia* (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 763, 769–70; *People v. Flores* (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 1070, 1075.) Consequently, although the great majority of qualified prisoners were granted second-strike sentencing and released, scores of qualified prisoners by July 2014 were denied resentencing pursuant to the undefined phrase. (See Stanford Law School Three Strikes Project and NAACP Legal Defense and Education Fund, Proposition 36 Progress Report: Over 1,500 Prisoners

Released Historically Low Recidivism Rate (April 2014), pp. 1–2, at http://www.law.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/child-page/595365/doc/slspublic/ThreeStrikesReport.pdf [as of June 7, 2015].) Yet, as the Stanford Study showed, the recidivism rate of third-strikers resentenced and released under the Reform Act was strikingly low at 1.3%, suggesting that some eligible third-strike offenders were needlessly denied relief in the name of public safety. (*Ibid.*) As that study reported:

In the midst of protracted prison overcrowding litigation, and nationwide concern over mass incarceration, the drafters of Proposition 36 and over 69 percent of California voters believed that non-violent offenders sentenced to life under the old Three Strikes law had been punished enough and could be released from prison without endangering public safety. The recidivism data released by the CDCR demonstrates the efficacy of the reform.

(*Id.* at p. 2.)

On December 17, 2012, Chaney filed a petition for resentencing pursuant to section 1170.126. (2 CT 380–390.) The court denied that petition, explaining to Chaney:

The Court cannot in good conscience say that you do not pose an unreasonable risk to the public safety if released. The Court is not convinced that you would not reengage in alcohol use and place the public at risk. (RT 84; see also typ. opn. 2 ["The court cited defendant's numerous DUI's that caused injuries, stating drinking was the root of his criminality."].)

Chaney appealed, and on October 29, 2014, the Court of Appeal issued an opinion affirming the judgment, and ordered that it not be published. (See Petn. for Review, App. A.) The reviewing court concluded that the trial court's finding "that defendant posed an unreasonable risk to public safety if released because he likely would reengage in alcohol use and place the public at risk ... was exactly the finding the court was required to make." (App. A, p. 7.) It further concluded that the trial court "acted well within its discretion in denying the petition." (App. A, p. 2.)

On November 4, 2014, the electorate enacted another sentencing reform measure, Proposition 47, titled "the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act." It went into effect the next day, November 5, 2014. (Cal. Const., art. II, § 10, subd. (a) ["An initiative statute ... approved by a majority of votes thereon takes effect the day after the election"].)

Proposition 47 reclassified to misdemeanors certain drug- and theft-related offenses that previously were felonies or "wobblers," unless they were committed by certain ineligible defendants. Like Proposition 36 (see § 1170.126), Proposition 47 contains a retroactivity provision for those prisoners serving terms on those offenses, who would have been misdemeanants had they committed their offenses after its enactment, to petition for resentencing to obtain the benefit of its reduced punishment. (See § 1170.18.) And, again like Proposition 36, Proposition 47 requires the court "in its discretion" to grant the petition unless it

finds that to do so would present "an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety." (Compare § 1170.126, subd. (f) with § 1170.18, subd. (b).) Proposition 47 also includes a list of factors that a "court may consider" in making that determination that is identical to the list of factors that guides a court's Proposition 36 determinations of dangerousness. (Compare § 1170.18, subd. (b), with § 1170.126, subd. (g).)

Unlike Proposition 36, however, Proposition 47 took the further step of defining the phrase "an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" that justifies denial of the retroactive benefit of recall of sentence, stating:

As used throughout this Code, "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" means an unreasonable risk that the petitioner will commit a new violent felony within the meaning of clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667.

(§ 1170.18, subd. (c).)

Proposition 47's uncodified section 2 set forth its findings and declarations:

The people of the State of California find and declare as follows:

As set forth previously, section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv) was enacted by Proposition 36 and lists a number of particularly violent or serious felonies the prior commission of which excludes a defendant from the reach of the Reform Act.

The people enact the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act to ensure that prison spending is focused on violent and serious offenses, to maximize alternatives for nonserious, nonviolent crime, and to invest the savings generated from this act into prevention and support programs in K-12 schools, victims services, and mental health and drug treatments. This act ensures that sentences for people convicted of dangerous crimes like rape, murder, and child molestation are not changed.

Proposition 47, section 3, sets forth its purpose and intent, to wit:

- (1) Ensure that people convicted of dangerous crimes like rape, murder, and child molestation will not benefit from this act.
- (2) Create the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Fund
- (3) Require misdemeanors instead of felonies for nonserious, nonviolent crimes like petty theft and drug possession, unless the defendant has prior convictions for specified violent or serious crimes.
- (4) Authorize consideration of resentencing for anyone who is currently serving a sentence for any of the offenses listed herein that are now misdemeanors.
- (5) Require a thorough review of criminal history and risk assessment of any

individuals before resentencing to ensure that they do not pose a risk to public safety.

(6) ...[S] ave significant state corrections dollars on an annual basis ... [and] increase investments in programs that reduce crime and improve public safety.

The "Argument in Favor of Proposition 47" disclosed its remedial purposes, which were to reduce the population of "California's overcrowded prisons"; "focus law enforcement dollars on violent and serious crime while providing new funding for education and crime prevention programs that will make us all safer"; stop "wasting money on warehousing people in prisons for nonviolent petty crimes"; and relieve California's overcrowded prisons from "incarcerating too many people convicted of low-level, nonviolent offenses." (Voter Information Guide, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014), argument in favor of Prop. 47, p. 38.) The "Rebuttal to Argument Against Proposition 47" reiterated these themes. (*Id.* at p. 39.)

On November 10, 2014, Chaney petitioned for rehearing on the ground that Proposition 47, which applied its definition of the phrase "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" to its use "throughout this Code," gave him a basis for reversal: "Defendant contends that because his case is a nonfinal judgment pending in this court, he is entitled to a new resentencing hearing under the Act in which the trial court should apply the definition of 'unreasonable risk to public safety' contained in Proposition 47." (Typ. mod. of opn. 4 [Pet. for Review, Appendix B].) After soliciting an answer to the petition, the Court of Appeal filed an 8-page order on December 1, 2014, that modified its opinion,

certified the opinion for partial publication, and denied the petition for rehearing. (See typ. mod. of opn. [Pet. for Review, Appendix B].)

In that order, the court ruled:

We partially publish this decision to address the potentially retroactive application of the definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in Proposition 47 to defendant. We hold that the definition of "unreasonable risk to public safety" in Proposition 47 does not apply retroactively to a defendant such as the one here whose petition for resentencing under the Act was decided before the effective date of Proposition 47.

(Typ. mod. of opn., p. 4.) The court expressly declined to "decide whether the definition of 'unreasonable risk to public safety' in Proposition 47 applies prospectively to petitions for resentencing under the [Three Strikes Reform [Act]." (Typ. mod. of opn, p. 6, fn. 3.)

The petition for review followed the Court of Appeal's summary denial of Chaney's second petition for rehearing. This Court granted that petition and limited review to the issue presented as phrased at the outset of this brief, thus foreclosing further consideration of the additional issue for review that Chaney had presented in his petition.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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