SUPREME COURT FILED

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

SEP 0 9 2015

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CLIFFORD PAUL CHANEY,

Defendant and Appellant.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Case No. S223676

Third Appellate District, Case No. C073949 Amador County Superior Court, Case No. 05CR08104 The Honorable J.S. Hermanson, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue granted to this Court for review, and the issue that was addressed by the Court of Appeal, is whether Proposition 47's new definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" applies retroactively to section 1170.126 dangerousness determinations under Proposition 36. But it is axiomatic that the definition cannot apply retroactively to Proposition 36 proceedings if in fact it does not apply to Proposition 36 proceedings at all. For this reason, and because appellant devotes the majority of his opening brief on the merits to the argument that the definition applies prospectively to Proposition 36 proceedings (AOB 17-45), respondent first addresses the predicate question and asserts that the new definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in Proposition 47 does not apply at all to section 1170.126 dangerousness determinations under Proposition 36.

The California electorate did not intend Proposition 47's new definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in section 1170.18, subdivision (c), to apply to section 1170.126 dangerousness determinations made under Proposition 36. First, the statutory language of section 1170.18 reflects an intent not to apply Proposition 47's definition to Proposition 36 proceedings. Section 1170.18, subdivision (c), by its own terms, applies only to petitioners who file petitions under section 1170.18, subdivision (a), despite the language that the definition is to apply

² The same issues in this case are also pending before this Court in *People v. Valencia*, review granted February 18, 2015, S223825. The Court of Appeal in *Valencia* decided the case on prospectivity grounds, while the Court of Appeal in this case decided the case on retroactivity grounds.

"throughout this Code." Section 1170.18, subdivision (n), which declares an intent not to "diminish or abrogate the finality of judgments in any case not falling within the purview of this act," also indicates that Proposition 47 was intended only to affect judgments stemming from convictions for the enumerated drug and property crimes at the heart of Proposition 47.

Second, the initiatives' different scopes indicate that Proposition 47 was not intended to amend Proposition 36. Under the statutory scheme of Proposition 36, life sentences remain mandatory or discretionary for a wide range of offenses and third strike offenders, not just the most egregious cases. In contrast, Proposition 47 provides for resentencing in the much less serious context of certain drug- and theft-related offenses that were previously felonies or "wobblers" but are now misdemeanors. Because the would-be misdemeanants who stand to benefit from Proposition 47, as a class, are less dangerous than recidivist felons with prior strike offenses, it is logical to impose a more restrictive dangerousness standard for them (§ 1170.18, subd. (c)) than the standard applied for recidivist felons under Proposition 36.

Third, the two initiatives were passed for different purposes such that a literal construction of section 1170.18, subdivision (c), does not comport with the purposes of the initiatives. The purpose of Proposition 36 was to restore the public's original understanding of the Three Strikes law while emphasizing the overriding concern of protecting the health, safety, and welfare of the general public over any economic benefits. On the other hand, the primary purpose of Proposition 47 was to reprioritize and redirect monetary spending. None of Proposition 47's stated purposes included fixing or amending Proposition 36. Because the two propositions target drastically different classes of criminals (to the exclusion of others), offer significantly different relief, and serve considerably different primary purposes, there is no reason to believe that the voters intended for the

definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in Proposition 47 to amend the phrase as used in section 1170.126 without any express mention of that intent.

The official ballot materials for the initiatives also show that the voters did not intend for Proposition 47 to amend Proposition 36. The voters intended each proposition to apply to a different, exclusive class of criminals and provide a different type of relief. The official Proposition 47 ballot pamphlet did not reference Proposition 36 at all and made the contrary representation that criminals not convicted of the specified drug and property offenses, such as many covered by Proposition 36, would not benefit from Proposition 47.

A literal interpretation of section 1170.18, subdivision (c), would lead to unreasonable and absurd results. Proposition 47 was passed just as the two-year deadline to file section 1170.126 petitions under Proposition 36 was expiring. The California voters cannot be understood to have silently "decided so important and controversial a public policy matter and created a significant departure from the existing law" and changed the rules for section 1170.126 petitions at the very last moment without any express declaration or notice of such intent. (*In re Christian S.* (1994) 7 Cal.4th 768, 782.) The radical reduction of court discretion in Proposition 36 proceedings that would result without notice that the electorate intended to reduce the discretion it so recently and abundantly granted to the courts to determine a petitioner's dangerousness is also unreasonable.

Even assuming the definition applies prospectively to Proposition 36 proceedings, it does not apply retroactively to proceedings in which the trial court determined, prior to the effective date of Proposition 47, that resentencing would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety pursuant to section 1170.126. There is no clear and unambiguous intent on the part of the California electorate for section 1170.18, subdivision (c), if it

applies at all to section 1170.126, to apply retroactively to section 1170.126 proceedings. Proposition 36 was not mentioned in any Proposition 47 official ballot materials. The costs and savings associated with a retroactive application of the new definition to Proposition 36 proceedings were not included in the fiscal analysis of the initiative. Without any declaration or indication of voter intent to apply the new definition retroactively to Proposition 36 proceedings, the California voters cannot be understood to have intentionally undone the section 1170.126 determinations they approved and intentionally revived the final judgments they intended to preserve when they passed Proposition 36 just two years earlier. Therefore, the section 3 presumption of prospective application applies.

Estrada does not apply because applying the more restrictive definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in section 1170.18, subdivision (c), to section 1170.126 proceedings does not constitute a reduction in punishment. Also, the acts of lenity in both Propositions 47 and 36 were counterbalanced by the important public interest in preserving final judgments in those cases involving dangerous criminals, so there is no "inevitable inference" that the electorate must have intended to disrupt the final judgments it diligently endeavored to preserve. Moreover, the amended definition is generally applicable to a class of offenders and does not apply to a particular criminal offense. Thus, the section 3 presumption of prospective application is not rebutted.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DEFINITION OF "UNREASONABLE RISK OF DANGER TO PUBLIC SAFETY" IN SECTION 1170.18, SUBDIVISION (C), DOES NOT APPLY RETROACTIVELY TO SECTION 1170.126 DETERMINATIONS

Appellant contends that the new definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" in Proposition 47 amends the meaning of the

phrase as used in dangerousness determinations under Proposition 36 and must be applied retroactively to those determinations in cases in which the judgment is not final. (AOB 17-58.) Respondent disagrees. The new, more restrictive definition of "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety," as provided in section 1170.18, subdivision (c), does not apply at all to section 1170.126 resentencing proceedings, thus it cannot apply retroactively. And even assuming the new definition may apply to some section 1170.126 proceedings, it does not apply retroactively to dangerousness determinations that had already been made at the time Proposition 47 was passed. *Estrada* does not compel retroactive application of the new definition to appellant's case.

A. Proposition 36 Provides for Resentencing of Certain Third Strike Offenders Subject to Broad Judicial Discretion

On November 6, 2012, California voters passed Proposition 36, which enacted the Three Strikes Reform Act of 2012, effective November 7, 2012 (see Cal. Const., art II, § 10, subd. (a)). Proposition 36 amended sections 1170.12 and 667 to lessen the sentence that may be imposed on many non-violent and non-serious felonies committed after two prior "strikes." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 6, 2012) text of Prop. 36, §§ 2, 4, pp. 105-109.)

Most relevant here, Proposition 36 created section 1170.126, which sets forth a recall procedure to provide retroactive relief for prisoners currently serving an indeterminate life sentence on a non-serious and non-violent felony conviction. (§ 1170.126, subd. (a).) Under this new statute, a prisoner may file a "petition for a recall of sentence" within two years of the date of Proposition 36's effective date or at a later date on a showing of good cause. (§ 1170.126, subd. (b).) A petitioner is eligible for resentencing if: (1) he or she is currently serving an indeterminate term of

life imprisonment for a current non-serious and non-violent felony conviction (§§ 667.5, subd. (c), 1192.7, subd. (c)); (2) his or her current sentence was not imposed for certain disqualifying offenses (§§ 667, subds. (e)(2)(C)(i)-(iii), 1170.12, subds. (c)(2)(C)(i)-(iii)); and (3) he or she has no prior convictions for offenses listed in sections 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv), and 1170.12, subdivision (c)(2)(C)(iv). (§ 1170.126, subd. (e).) If a trial court determines that the petitioner satisfies these criteria, the prisoner shall be resentenced as a second striker, "unless the court, in its discretion, determines that resentencing the petitioner would pose an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety." (§ 1170.126, subd. (f).) The term "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" is not expressly defined in the statute, but the statute does provide guidelines for the trial court to consider in making its determination. In exercising its discretion, the trial court may consider the petitioner's criminal history, the circumstances of the current offense, his or her disciplinary record and record of rehabilitation while incarcerated, and any other evidence the court, in its discretion, determines to be relevant. (§ 1170.126, subd. (g).)

According to the "Findings and Declarations" of section 1 of Proposition 36, the initiative was enacted to restore the original intent of the Three Strikes Law by imposing life sentences for dangerous criminals like rapists, murderers, and child molesters and to:

- (1) Require that murderers, rapists, and child molesters serve their full sentences—they will receive life sentences, even if they are convicted of a new minor third strike crime.
- (2) Restore the Three Strikes law to the public's original understanding by requiring life sentences only when a defendant's current conviction is for a violent or serious crime.
- (3) Maintain that repeat offenders convicted of non-violent, non-serious crimes like shoplifting and simple drug possession will receive twice the normal sentence instead of a life sentence.

- (4) Save hundreds of millions of taxpayer dollars every year for at least 10 years. The state will no longer pay for housing or long-term health care for elderly, low-risk, non-violent inmates serving life sentences for minor crimes.
- (5) Prevent the early release of dangerous criminals who are currently being released early because jails and prisons are overcrowded with low-risk, non-violent inmates serving life sentences for petty crimes.

(Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 6, 2012) text of Prop. 36, p. 105.)
Uncondified section 7 of Proposition 36 also provided, "This act is an exercise of the public power of the people of the State of California for the protection of the health, safety, and welfare of the people of the State of California, and shall be liberally construed to effectuate those purposes."

(Id. at p. 110.) "Enhancing public safety was a key purpose of [Proposition 36]." (People v. Yearwood (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 161, 175.)

B. Proposition 47 Provides for Resentencing of Certain Felons-Turned-Misdemeanants Subject to Circumscribed Judicial Discretion

Just two years after the passage of Proposition 36, on November 4, 2014, California voters passed Proposition 47, which enacted the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act of 2014, effective November 5, 2014 (see Cal. Const., art II, § 10, subd. (a)). Proposition 47 reduced certain drugand theft-related felonies or "wobblers" to misdemeanors, unless they were committed by defendants with one or more prior convictions for certain violent offenses (§ 667, subd. (e)(2)(C)(iv)) or for offenses requiring sex offender registration (§ 290, subd. (c)). Proposition 47 also created a new

The offenses amended by Proposition 47 are grand theft (§ 490.2), receiving stolen property (§ 496), shoplifting (§ 459.5), petty theft with a prior conviction (§ 666), forgery (§ 473), writing bad checks (§ 476a), possession of a controlled substance (Health & Saf. Code, §§ 11350, (continued...)

resentencing provision, section 1170.18, by which "[a] person currently serving a sentence" for such a conviction may petition the trial court for a recall of sentence and request a reduced classification and sentence.⁴ (§ 1170.18, subd. (a).) An eligible person (see § 1170.18, subd. (i)) satisfying the criteria in subdivision (a) shall be resentenced unless the court, in its discretion, determines that resentencing the person would pose an "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety." (§ 1170.18, subd. (b).) The language of section 1170.18, subdivision (b), is similar to the language appearing in section 1170.126, subdivisions (f) and (g).

Section 1170.18, subdivision (c), was added to provide:

As used throughout this Code, "unreasonable risk of danger to public safety" means an unreasonable risk that the petitioner will commit a new violent felony within the meaning of clause (iv) of subparagraph (C) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (e) of Section 667.[5]

The resentencing statute also created an application process for similar persons who have already completed their sentences to have the relevant conviction or convictions designated as misdemeanors. (§ 1170.18,

^{(...}continued)

^{11377),} and possession of concentrated cannabis (Health & Saf. Code, § 11357, subd. (a)).

⁴ It is undisputed that appellant's underlying felony DUI conviction would not be eligible for reduction to a misdemeanor under Proposition 47.

⁵ The violent felony offenses identified in section 667, subdivision (e)(2)(C)(iv), otherwise known as "super strike" offenses, include sexually violent offenses as defined in Welfare and Institutions Code section 6600; certain sexual offenses against children including oral copulation, sodomy, sexual penetration, and lewd or lascivious conduct; homicide offenses; solicitation to commit murder; assault with a machine gun on a peace officer or firefighter; possession of a weapon of mass destruction; and "[a]ny serious and/or violent felony offense punishable in California by life imprisonment or death" (§ 667, subd. (e)(2)(C)(iv)(VIII)). These are the same offenses for which a prior conviction renders a person ineligible to file a section 1170.18, subdivision (a) petition.

subd. (f).) Despite the use of language similar to Proposition 36, any potential relief offered under Proposition 47 is independent and separate from any potential relief offered under Proposition 36.

According to the "Findings and Declarations" of section 2 of Proposition 47, the initiative was enacted "to ensure that prison spending is focused on violent and serious offenses, to maximize alternatives for nonserious, nonviolent crime, and to invest the savings generated from this act into prevention and support programs in K-12 schools, victim services, and mental health and drug treatment. This act ensures that sentences for people convicted of dangerous crimes like rape, murder, and child molestation are not changed." (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) text of Prop. 47, p. 70.) The electorate further stated the purpose and intent of Proposition 47 in uncodified section 3:

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